RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 12, 2015, 1:45 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

48702-1-II

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL NO. 91883-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARTIN NICKERSON, JR.,

Appellant,

ν.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,
GOVERNOR JAY INSLEE,
WASHINGTON ATTORNEY GENERAL BOB FERGUSON,
CAROL NELSON, Director of
Washington State Department of Revenue,
et al.,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY,

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LENELL NUSSBAUM 2125 Western Ave., Suite 330 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 728-0996

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred and applied the incorrect legal standard to conclude the federal Controlled Substances Act does not pre-empt the Washington Medical Use of Cannabis Act (MUCA), RCW Chapter 69.51A, so as to preclude the State from allowing and taxing medical marijuana collective gardens. U.S. Constitution, Article VI.
- The trial court erred by concluding the excise and business tax system the State imposes collective medical marijuana specifically on gardens, which requires the owner of a collective garden to report its gross proceeds from medical marijuana, and which reports must be made available law enforcement and to the United States Department of Justice, does not compel a person to provide incriminating evidence in violation of the States Constitution, Amendment V, and United Constitution, Art. I, § 9.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Does the federal Controlled Substances
Act, 21 U.S.C. § 801-904, under the Supremacy
Clause pre-empt Washington state law regarding
medical marijuana collective gardens so as to

preclude the State from permitting and taxing them as businesses?

2. Do the protections against self-incrimination of the Fifth Amendment and Art. I, § 9, provide a defense against assessments of sales and business and occupational taxes for collective gardens providing medical marijuana to qualifying patients, when the State also is prosecuting that individual for criminally delivering marijuana?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. BACKGROUND OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT

Shortly after taking office in 1969, President Nixon declared a national 'war on drugs.' As the first campaign of that set out tο Congress consolidate legislation that would various drug laws on the books into a comprehensive statute, provide meaningful regulation over legitimate sources of drugs to prevent diversion into illegal channels, and strengthen law enforcement tools against the traffic in illicit That effort culminated in the passage of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 84 Stat. 1236.

Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 10, 125 S. Ct. 2195, 162 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005).

Congress devised a closed regulatory system making it unlawful to manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess any controlled substance except in a manner authorized by the CSA. 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), 844(a).

Raich, 545 U.S. at 14.

The CSA classifies every drug and medication in the country, tightly regulating its production, distribution, and use.

The CSA categorizes all controlled substances into five schedules. U.S.C.] § 812. The CSA's restrictions on manufacture, distribution. possession of a controlled substance depend upon the schedule in which the drug has been placed. Id. at §§ 821-29. The drugs are grouped together based on accepted medical uses, their potential for abuse, and their psychological and physical effects on the body. Id. at §§ 811, 812. Each schedule is associated with a distinct set of regarding the manufacture, controls distribution, and use of the substances listed therein. Id. at §§ 821-30.

Since Congress enacted the CSA in 1970, marijuana and tetrahydrocannabinols have been classified as Schedule controlled substances. Schedule I drugs are deemed to have "a high potential for abuse, " "no currently accepted medical use in treatment in the United States" and "a lack of accepted safety for use under medical supervision." U.S.C. 812 (b) (1) (A) - (C). classifying marijuana as a Schedule I Congress mandated that manufacture, distribution, or possession of marijuana be a criminal offense.2

See Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, Pub. L. No. 91-513, § 202, 4 Stat. 1249 (Schedule I(c)(10) and (17)); 21 U.S.C. § 812(c) (Schedule I(c)(10) and (17)).

The sole exception is use of the drug as part of a federally approved research study. 21 U.S.C. §§ 823, 841(a)(1), 844(a).

United States v. Oakland Cannabis Buyers'
Cooperative, 532 U.S. 483, 489-90, 492, 121 S. Ct.
1711, 149 L. Ed. 2d 722 (2001) (emphasis added).

Congress classified a host of substances when it enacted the CSA, but the statute permits the Attorney General to add, remove, or reschedule substances. He [sic] may do so, however, only after making particular findings, and on scientific and medical matters he is required to accept the findings of the Secretary of Health and Human Services.

Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243, 250, 126 S. Ct. 904, 163 L. Ed. 2d 748 (2006).

Congress classified marijuana, as well as heroin, LSD, and other drugs, under Schedule I: having a high potential for abuse, no currently accepted medical use in treatment, and no accepted safety for use under medical supervision. 21 U.S.C. § 812(b), (c).

Despite considerable efforts to reschedule marijuana, it remains a Schedule I drug.

Raich, at 15.

- 2. BACKGROUND OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA IN WASHINGTON
 - a. Controlled Substances Act

In 1971, the Washington Legislature enacted the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, RCW chapter 69.50. Like the CSA, this statute makes it a crime

to manufacture, deliver, and possess marijuana. RCW 69.50.401-.445. Cannabis Action Coalition v. City of Kent, 183 Wn.2d 219, 222-23, 351 P.3d 1515 (2015).

b. Medical Use of Cannabis Act

In 1998, the People of the State of Washington passed Initiative 692 to provide protections for medical marijuana use -- the Medical Use of Cannabis Act (MUCA). Laws of 1999, ch. 2; Cannabis Action Coal., 183 Wn.2d at 223.

The Legislature amended MUCA in 2011 in an effort to create a state regulatory system for medical cannabis. First read in the Legislature February 25, 2011, the House passed it April 11, and the Senate passed it April 21, 2011. Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill (ESSSB) 5073 (2011).

i. Vetoed Amendments

ESSSB 5073 provided the state would license an industry of producers, processors and dispensers to wholesale and retail medical marijuana. ESSSB 5073, § 201(8), § 701-703.4 Sections 901-902

[&]quot;(8) 'Dispense' means the selection, measuring, packaging, labeling, delivery, or retail sale of cannabis by a licensed dispenser to a qualifying patient or designated provider." See also ESSSB 5073, § 412 (referring to "proceeds of

required the Departments of Health and Agriculture to create and maintain a "secure and confidential" registration system, greatly restricting the release of any personally identifiable information to law enforcement.⁵

The Legislature acknowledged unregulated cannabis producers and dispensaries already existed. It offered an affirmative defense until its licensing system was established, so long as they met conditions, including they "be registered with the secretary of state as of May 1, 2011." ESSSB 5073 § 1201(3)(c).6

sales of cannabis for medical use made by licensed producers, licensed processors of cannabis products, or licensed dispensers"); §§ 601-602 (licensed producers and processors may "wholesale" cannabis products).

[&]quot;[L]icensed dispensers and their employees, members, officers, and directors may deliver, distribute, dispense, transfer, prepare, package, repackage, label, relabel, sell at retail, or possess cannabis intended for medical use by qualifying patients " (Emphasis added).

⁵ Section 1202 further excluded certain documents from public disclosure under 42.56 RCW.

defense under this section, a cannabis producer or cannabis dispensary must: ... (b) In the case of dispensaries, solely provide cannabis to qualified patients for their medical use; (c) be registered with the secretary of state as of May 1, 2011;"

legislature amended MUCA 2011. See Laws of 2011, ch. 181. But the legislature passed differs the significantly from the enacted because Governor Gregoire vetoed 36 of the bill's 58 sections. See id. at 1374-76 (governor's veto message). As passed by the legislature, the bill would have created a comprehensive regulatory scheme under which all patients, physicians, processors, producers, and dispensers could be securely and confidentially registered in a database maintained by the Washington Department of Health. See id. § 901 (later vetoed).

Cannabis Action Coal., 183 Wn.2d at 223.

On April 14, 2011, the United States Attorneys for the Eastern and Western Districts of Washington wrote Governor Christine Gregoire to advise her of the federal government's position regarding the medical marijuana legislation. They did not mince words: The federal government would continue to enforce the federal controlled substances act, specifically as it applies to marijuana, despite the State's new statute.

Congress placed marijuana in Schedule I of the Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and, as such, growing, distributing, and possessing marijuana in any capacity, other than as part of a federally authorized research program, is a violation of federal law regardless of state laws permitting such activities.

As the Attorney General has repeatedly stated, the Department of Justice remains

firmly committed to enforcing the CSA in all states.

CP 85-87. As a result, Governor Gregoire signed Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill 5073 only after vetoing many sections.

Governor Gregoire vetoed all of the bill's sections that could have subjected state employees to federal charges, most importantly the establishment of the bill's centerpiece, the registration system. She did not veto the provision concerning collective gardens, RCW 69.51A.085

Cannabis Action Coal., 183 Wn.2d at 224. The Governor's veto completely removed all sections contemplating wholesale and retail sales, and so all commercial aspects for medical marijuana.

In her veto message, Governor Gregoire also acknowledged the validity of affirmative defenses or immunities. Laws of 2011, ch. 181, at 1374-76.

Our state legislature may remove state criminal and civil penalties for activities that assist persons suffering from debilitating or terminal conditions.

Id. at 1374. She also

remain[ed] open to legislation to exempt qualifying patients and their designated providers from state criminal penalties when they join in nonprofit cooperative organizations to share responsibility for producing, processing and dispensing cannabis for medical use. Id., at 1376. And similarly: "I am not vetoing
Sections 402 or 406, which establish affirmative
defenses for a qualifying patient or designated
provider" Id.

ii. Surviving Amendments

The surviving statute nonetheless provides for collective gardens:

- (1) Qualifying patients may create and participate in collective gardens for the purpose of producing, processing, transporting, and delivering cannabis for medical use subject to the following conditions:
- (2) For purposes of this section, the creation of a "collective garden" patients sharing qualifying means responsibility for acquiring supplying the resources required to produce and process cannabis for medical use such as, for example, a location for a collective garden; equipment, supplies, and labor necessary to plant, grow, and harvest cannabis; cannabis plants, seeds, and cuttings; and equipment, supplies, necessary for proper and labor wiring, construction, plumbing, ventilation of a garden of cannabis plants.

RCW 69.51A.085 (emphasis added).

Nothing in this chapter or in the rules adopted to implement it precludes a qualifying patient or designated provider from engaging in the private, unlicensed, noncommercial production, possession, transportation, delivery, or administration of cannabis for medical use as authorized under RCW 69.51A.040.

Former RCW 69.51A.025; Laws of 2011, ch. 181, § 413.

c. Department of Revenue and MUCA

Although the Governor vetoed all commercial aspects of ESSSB 5073, the Department of Revenue nonetheless issued special notices regarding taxes on medical marijuana collective gardens. CP 39-42.

If collective or cooperating members are contributing things of value with an expectation of a benefit (e.g., receiving marijuana), the collective or cooperative is considered to be conducting business. It is required to register with Revenue, collect retail sales tax (on transactions with consumers) and send those taxes to Revenue.

Amounts received in exchange for tangible personal property (in this case, marijuana) are considered payment regardless of being characterized as "donations." (See RCW 92.04.040(1).) The sale (or providing for "donation") of marijuana is subject to retail sales tax under RCW 92.08.020.

Businesses selling medical marijuana are currently required to register with Revenue and collect and pay taxes, until the Legislature directs otherwise.

CP 41-42.

By specifically targeting medical marijuana collective gardens, DOR expanded its taxing

⁷ This section was repealed by Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 48(2), effective 7/24/15.

authority. It effectively established a structure of licensing medical marijuana "businesses," requiring them to collect sales taxes for any "sale," and pay taxes as a retail business.

d. Subsequent Legislation

In 2013, the voters passed Initiative 502, a system for licensing and taxing producers, processors, and retailers of recreational marijuana. See RCW 69.50.535 (excise taxes on each retail sale of marijuana).

In 2015, the Legislature again enacted, this time with the Governor's signature, the bulk of what was vetoed in 2011: commercial licensing for the manufacture, processing, wholesale and retail

[&]quot;The people intend to stop treating adult marijuana use as a crime and try a new approach that:

[&]quot;(1) Allows law enforcement resources to be focused on violent and property crimes;

[&]quot;(2) Generates new state and local tax revenue for education, health care, research, and substance abuse prevention; and

[&]quot;(3) Takes marijuana out of the hands of illegal drug organizations and brings it under a tightly regulated, state-licensed system similar to that for controlling hard alcohol.

[&]quot;This measure authorizes the state liquor control board to regulate and tax marijuana for persons twenty-one years of age and older, and add a new threshold for driving under the influence of marijuana."

Initiative Measure No. 502, § 1.

sales of medical marijuana; and a "secure and confidential medical marijuana authorization database." Laws of 2015, ch. 70; SB 5052 (2015).

The new law specifically permits retailers to charge, marijuana at no at "provide discretion, to qualifying patients and designated providers." Laws 2015, ch. 70, §§ 10, 11. The new law retains "collective gardens" until July 1, 2016, Laws of 2015, ch. 70, §§ 32, 49-50; then replaces them with "cooperatives" which qualifying patients or designated providers may form to "share responsibility for acquiring and supplying the resources needed to produce and process marijuana only for the medical use of members of cooperative." Members "[m]ust provide assistance in growing plants. A monetary contribution or donation is not to be considered assistance." Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 26.

Under the 2015 amendments, RCW 82.04.404 specifically will exempt medical marijuana from business and occupational taxes effective July 1, 2016. Laws of 2015, ch. 70, § 40.

- 3. NORTHERN CROSS COLLECTIVE GARDENS AND MARTIN NICKERSON, JR.
 - a. Business License Applications

On March 18, 2011, while the MUCA amendments bill was pending in the legislature, Martin Nickerson, Jr., filed two Master Business License Applications. One was for himself, the second was for Northern Cross Collective Gardens. It listed the company as a non-profit providing medical marijuana. It anticipated, under the pending legislation, retail sales. CP 93-100.

State law requires this license application to engage in any business in the state. **RCW** 82.32.030(1); RCW 82.32.290(1). ESSSB 5073 § 1201(3)(c) required existing dispensers to obtain such a registration by May 1, 2011. As noted Governor subsequently vetoed above, the dispensing medical commercial aspects for marijuana, leaving only collective gardens.

b. Criminal Charges

On April 2, 2012, the State of Washington in Whatcom County charged Martin Nickerson, Jr., with multiple felony counts involving marijuana:

Counts I-V: delivery of marijuana;

Counts VI-VIII: possession of marijuana with intent to deliver;

Count IX: Maintaining a place for controlled substances (used for keeping or selling controlled substances);

Count XI: Conspiracy to deliver marijuana.

The charged crimes allegedly occurred September 1,

2011 - March 15, 2012. CP 29, 34-37.

c. Tax Assessments

While these felony charges were pending, on November 13, 2013, DOR assessed excise taxes against Northern Cross Collective Gardens and Mr. Nickerson, per their certificates of registration, for the years 2011-2013 -- the same period in which his charged crimes were to have occurred. No tax returns had been filed. RCW 82.32.100 directs DOR to assess taxes against persons who fail to make any return, based on DOR's estimate of the tax obtained from "facts and information" in such manner as it may deem best. DOR initially assessed \$6,188.19 against Mr. Nickerson, and \$47,783.42 against Northern Cross, with no indication of how it arrived at those figures. The notice to Mr. Nickerson provided:

The assessment will be adjusted to actual figures when you provide completed tax returns for all periods. If your account

is selected for audit, the periods included in this assessment are subject to verification by an auditor.

CP 89, 102-03.

DOR'S Combined Excise Tax Return requires a business to report "the gross income resulting from your Washington business activities." The return is filed with the business license registration number. CP 90, 121-23.

DOR only assessed taxes for plaintiffs' medical marijuana "sales." CP 251; RP(5/15/15) 30-31.

Mr. Nickerson attempted to negotiate a delay of the tax assessment, explaining his pending criminal charges and his right against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9. DOR declined to delay the assessment and collection. CP 29-31. Instead, DOR obtained tax warrants in the amounts of \$7,152.66 and \$55,016.95, filed them with the court to obtain a judgment, and seized Mr. Nickerson's bank account in the amount of \$824.23. CP 30-31, 88-90, 105-11.

When the balance of the assessed taxes remained unpaid, DOR revoked the certificates of registration. CP 90, 118-19. Operating a business

after its certificate of registration has been revoked is a Class C felony. RCW 82.32.290(2).

4. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Appellant brought this action to enjoin DOR from assessing and collecting taxes because it unconstitutionally compels him to provide incriminating evidence against himself. He also argued the federal Controlled Substances Act preempted the State's system of imposing sales and business taxes on collective gardens. By converting a collective garden to a retail business and assessing taxes on all transfers of medicine among qualifying patients, the State of Washington created a commercial business market, in direct conflict with and an obstacle to the CSA's purpose of precluding any market or use of CP 4-18, 19-27, 161-70; RP(2/20/15, marijuana. 3/20/15, 5/15/15).

On cross-motions for summary judgment, CP 161-94, 277-13, the trial court dismissed the complaint. CP 248-53.

It concluded the State's tax statutes were not limited to marijuana transactions, and the CSA does not address state taxation. Comparing the

statutes, it concluded "the state law does not require that which the federal law prohibits," and so there was no pre-emption. CP 250-52.

As to the Fifth Amendment claim, DOR did not dispute plaintiff's claim that it is attempting to collect taxes on the same conduct with which he was criminally charged. CP 252-53. The court nonetheless concluded:

Generally-applicable tax statutes and regulations that do not target selective or suspect groups are not subject to the Fifth Amendment privilege. Rather, the privilege applies in those cases where the government was targeting a particular group.

CP 252.

This appeal timely follows.

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues before this Court are purely issues of law. Interpretations of law are reviewed de novo. Grants of summary judgment also are reviewed de novo, and this Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 715, 261 P.3d 119 (2011).

D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When a state law permits what a federal law prohibits, it is pre-empted; it stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.

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