RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 11, 2015, 12:08 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

48702-1-II

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARTIN NICKERSON, JR.,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE; GOVERNOR JAY INSLEE, Washington State Governor (in his official capacity); WASHINGTON ATTORNEY GENERAL BOB FERGUSON (in his official capacity); CAROL NELSON, Director of Washington State Department of Revenue (in her official capacity); and JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-10,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CAMERON G. COMFORT, WSBA 15188
Senior Assistant Attorney General

JEFFREY T. EVEN, WSBA 20367

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

irrelevant to determining the validity of the tax assessments Mr. Nickerson challenges because the only consequence of finding federal preemption would be to render Mr. Nickerson's medical marijuana sales illegal under state law. The generally-applicable excise taxes at issue in this case relate to retail sales in general and are not based on any laws relating specifically to medical marijuana. It is well established in any event that states may tax illegal activities. The question of whether federal law preempts state law is therefore irrelevant to this dispute about tax assessments.

Even if the question of federal preemption was relevant, it would be unavailing to Mr. Nickerson because Congress has expressly stated its intent *not to preempt* state laws on controlled substances except in cases of a positive conflict between federal and state law such that the two cannot consistently stand together. Requiring Mr. Nickerson to comply with state tax laws does not conflict with federal law. State law does not compel Mr. Nickerson to violate federal law, and the state law does not impose an obstacle to federal enforcement of federal laws.

Finally, compliance with the generally-applicable state excise taxes does not compel Mr. Nickerson to incriminate himself in violation of the Fifth Amendment. Throughout the tax period, Mr. Nickerson and his business voluntarily held themselves out to the public as a source of medical marijuana, and Mr. Nickerson admits that he anticipated

conducting retail sales through that business. When a state tax does not target any selected group and suspect criminal activity, the Fifth Amendment does not grant a taxpayer immunity against an obligation to pay a tax simply on the basis that the activity involved is illegal. The retail sales tax and B&O tax apply to retail sales generally, and do not specifically target sales of medical marijuana. Assessing those taxes against Mr. Nickerson does not violate his Fifth Amendment right.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Review of Summary Judgment

A court reviewing a grant of summary judgment engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 296, 119 P.3d 318 (2005). State laws are presumed valid, and the party alleging their invalidity bears the burden of proving otherwise beyond a reasonable doubt. *Island County v. State*, 135 Wn.2d 141, 146, 955 P.2d 327 (1998). A party alleging that federal law preempts state law must similarly overcome the strong presumption against preemption. *Cipolone v. Liggett Grp., Inc.*, 505 U.S. 504, 516, 112 S. Ct. 2608, 120 L. Ed. 2d 407 (1992). As issues of law, this Court reviews such questions de novo. *Keck v. Collins*, No. 90357-3, 2015 WL 5612829, at *6 (Wash. Sept. 24, 2015).

2. RCW 82.32.150 Limits the Scope of Review to the Constitutionality of Washington's General Excise Tax Laws as Applied to Mr. Nickerson

This is an action under RCW 82.32.150, which provides:

All taxes, penalties, and interest shall be paid in full before any action may be instituted in any court to contest all or any part of such taxes, penalties, or interest. No restraining order or injunction shall be granted or issued by any court or judge to restrain or enjoin the collection of any tax or penalty or any part thereof, except upon the ground that the assessment thereof was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or that of the state.

(Emphasis added.) Judicial review of a tax assessment is generally unavailable unless the taxpayer first pays all disputed taxes, penalties, and interest. RCW 82.32.150, .180; RCW 82.03.180. The sole narrow exception is for claims alleging that the assessment of a tax is unconstitutional. RCW 82.32.150; see also Booker Auction Co. v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn. App. 84, 89, 241 P.3d 439 (2010).

Until all taxes, penalties, and interest have been paid in full, the sole relief available to the taxpayer is limited to the restraining or enjoining of the collection of assessed taxes. This is because "the disruption of the state's prompt and orderly collection of taxes . . . could have catastrophic effects on [the state's] economy, let alone the solvency

³ RCW 82.32.150, like RCW 82.32.180, is a conditional, partial waiver of the State's sovereign immunity and, therefore, must be strictly construed. *See Lacey Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 128 Wn.2d 40, 52, 905 P.2d 338 (1995) (addressing waiver of sovereign immunity under RCW 82.32.180).

of state government." *Booker Auction Co.*, 158 Wn. App. at 89; *see also Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 96 Wn.2d 785, 796-97, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982) (discussing society's strong interest in the collection of taxes).

Mr. Nickerson has not paid the disputed taxes. CP at 250. Mr. Nickerson is therefore precluded from seeking any relief other than the narrow request for an injunction against the assessments of the generally-applicable excise taxes against him and Northern Cross on the basis they are constitutionally precluded.

3. To Obtain Injunctive Relief Under RCW 82.32.150 a Taxpayer Must Establish the Traditional Equitable Criteria Applying to Such Relief

"An injunction is distinctly an equitable remedy and is frequently termed 'the strong arm of equity,' or a 'transcendent or extraordinary remedy,' and is a remedy which should not be lightly indulged in, but should be used sparingly and only in a clear and plain case." *Kucera v. Dep't of Transp.*, 140 Wn.2d 200, 209, 995 P.2d 63 (2000) (some internal quotation marks omitted). Consequently, equitable relief should not be granted if an adequate remedy at law is available. *Kucera*, 140 Wn.2d at 209. This reflects society's strong interest in the efficient collection of taxes, because "[a]ny delay in the proceedings of officers, upon whom the duty is devolved of collecting taxes, may derange the operations of

government, and thereby cause serious detriment to the public." *Tyler Pipe*, 96 Wn.2d at 797 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The party requesting injunctive relief must satisfy the equitable criteria governing the issuance of an injunction. *Id.* at 791. The requesting party thus "" must show (1) that he has a clear legal or equitable right, (2) that he has a well-grounded fear of immediate invasion of that right, and (3) that the acts complained of are either resulting in or will result in actual and substantial injury to him.'" *Id.* at 792 (quoting *Port of Seattle v. Int'l Longshoremen's & Warehousemen's Union*, 52 Wn.2d 317, 319, 324 P.2d 1099 (1958)). Injunctive relief must be denied if the requesting party fails to establish any of these criteria. *San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax*, 160 Wn.2d 141, 153, 157 P.3d 831 (2007).

Mr. Nickerson fails to meet this burden because, among other reasons, he has a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy at law. He fails to show why he cannot pay the taxes at issue and then bring an action for a refund under RCW 82.32.180. "Mere inconvenience . . . is not a special circumstance which entitles one to resort to a suit for an injunction in order to test the validity or applicability of a tax." *Tyler Pipe*, 96 Wn.2d at 795 (quoting *California v. Latimer*, 305 U.S. 255, 262, 59 S. Ct. 166, 83 L. Ed. 2d 159 (1938)). Mr. Nickerson accordingly has not shown that he is entitled to an injunction. *Tyler Pipe*, 96 Wn.2d at 792.

B. Mr. Nickerson Lacks Standing to Argue That Federal Law Preempts State Marijuana Laws

Mr. Nickerson cannot establish standing to argue that federal law preempts the Washington Medical Use of Cannabis Act (MUCA), because he cannot show that any injury he may have suffered by being assessed for the taxes at issue would be redressed by his preemption argument. *See State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090, *cert. denied*, 135 S. Ct. 139 (2014). Mr. Nickerson alleges that federal law preempts the MUCA, but the taxes at issue are not imposed by the MUCA. The ruling he requests would not satisfy the "redress" prong of the injury-in-fact test because the alleged injury and the preemption argument are disconnected. *See KS Tacoma Holdings, LLC v. Shorelines Hr'gs Bd.*, 166 Wn. App. 117, 129, 272 P.3d 876 (2012) (requiring a nexus between the alleged injury and the relief requested).

Mr. Nickerson's basis for claiming that state law allowed him to sell medical marijuana in the first place was RCW 69.51A.085, a provision of the MUCA. Having relied upon RCW 69.51A.085 as the authority under which he sold medical marijuana, Mr. Nickerson cannot

⁴ The two elements of standing consist of, first, a requirement that a plaintiff show an injury-in-fact caused by the conduct at issue "and likely to be redressed by the requested relief," and second, a requirement to show that the claim falls within the zone of interest at issue. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 552 (emphasis added). As a jurisdictional question, standing may be raised at any time, including sua sponte by the Court. Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875, 101 P.3d 67 (2004); see CP at 155 (asserting the affirmative defense of standing).

now contest the validity of that very act. *See Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538-39, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) (applying "judicial estoppel" and explaining that equity "precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position"). Not only is such a request deeply ironic, but the result of accepting his argument would simply be to deprive Mr. Nickerson's business of any claim of legality under state law, not to excuse him from paying taxes.

This is true because courts repeatedly have upheld the application of tax statutes with respect to illegal activities. For example, the United States Supreme Court has held that, "[a] statute does not cease to be a valid tax measure . . . because the activity [taxed] is otherwise illegal." *Minor v. United States*, 396 U.S. 87, 98 n.13, 90 S. Ct. 284, 24 L. Ed. 2d 283 (1969). And it has explained that "the unlawfulness of an activity does not prevent its taxation." *Dep't of Revenue of Montana v. Kurth Ranch*, 511 U.S. 767, 778, 114 S. Ct. 1937, 128 L. Ed. 2d 767 (1994) (citing inter alia *Marchetti v. United States*, 390 U.S. 39, 44, 88 S. Ct. 697, 19 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)). The Court observed that a state "no doubt could collect [a] tax on the possession of marijuana" under certain circumstances. *Id.* Similarly, a Michigan court held that the state had the "authority . . . to assess a sales tax on petitioners' illegal sale of marijuana." *Greer v. Dep't*

of Treasury, 145 Mich. App. 248, 251-52, 377 N.W.2d 836 (1985). "Intrinsically it is obvious that the states and the federal government have the constitutional right and power as separate sovereigns to tax that which the sovereignty has declared to be illegal." State v. Wood, 187 So. 2d 820, 823 (Miss. 1966).

It therefore follows that Mr. Nickerson lacks standing to assert that federal law preempts state laws on medical marijuana. Even if Mr. Nickerson proved preemption—and as discussed below he cannot—the result would not be to excuse him from paying taxes on what would then be an illegal business under state law. Mr. Nickerson's alleged grievance is therefore not redressable through his federal preemption argument. *Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d at 552.

C. Federal Law Does Not Preempt Washington From Assessing and Collecting Excise Taxes on the Sale of Medical Marijuana

Analysis of Mr. Nickerson's federal preemption claim is complicated unnecessarily by his failure to clearly articulate precisely which state statute he argues is preempted. See CP at 251 (trial court's observation that Mr. Nickerson "has not cited to specific state statutes that he asserts are preempted" by federal law); see generally CP at 13-14. Mr. Nickerson contends that the CSA preempts the MUCA, and that as a result DOR cannot collect taxes from collective gardens. See, e.g., Br.

Appellant at 1-2 (first assignment of error and first issue). But that proposition is a *non sequitur* because the preemption of the MUCA would have no effect on the state's tax assessments against Mr. Nickerson and Northern Cross when those taxes are not imposed pursuant to the MUCA in the first place. Rather, the gravamen of Mr. Nickerson's argument is much narrower: that DOR cannot collect taxes on medical marijuana sales because the CSA preempts state taxation of such sales. *See* Br. Appellant at 29-31.

DOR assessed the excise taxes at issue in this case based on generally-applicable tax laws that form no part of the state's medical marijuana laws, and so federal preemption of the MUCA can have no effect upon the collection of the taxes. And the CSA expresses a general congressional intent *not to preempt* state laws except where a direct conflict arises, and no direct conflict with federal law precludes the assessment of state taxes.

1. State Taxes are Imposed Pursuant to Generally-Applicable Excise Tax Laws, Not Pursuant to Medical Marijuana Laws

Mr. Nickerson's attempt to broadly assert that the CSA preempts the MUCA ignores the narrowness of this case: a constitutional challenge under RCW 82.32.150 to tax assessments DOR issued against him and his business. CP at 318-19. Indeed, other than the fact that his business

purports to qualify as a "collective garden," this case does not concern the MUCA at all. The retail sales tax is imposed pursuant to RCW 82.08.020. The retailing B&O tax is imposed pursuant to RCW 82.04.220 and .250. These statutes do not address medical marijuana specifically, nor are they part of the MUCA, which is codified in RCW 69.51A.

And, as described above in the context of standing, states may tax illegal activities. *Kurth Ranch*, 511 U.S. at 778. If Mr. Nickerson successfully demonstrated that the CSA preempts the MUCA, the result would merely be to deprive his own business of any claim of legality under state law. But that illegality would not excuse him from the obligation to pay taxes. *Id.* Mr. Nickerson's preemption argument therefore does not advance this Court's analysis of his tax obligations.

The broad question of federal preemption of the MUCA is accordingly not presented in this case. Mr. Nickerson merely seeks injunctive relief under RCW 82.32.150 against the assessment of generally-applicable excise taxes. Determining whether the CSA preempts the MUCA does not help answer that question, both because the taxes at issue are not imposed pursuant to the MUCA and because states may tax illegal activities.

2. Federal Law Does Not Preempt the Collection of the State's Application of Generally-Applicable Excise Tax Laws to Marijuana Businesses

Į

Preemption analysis begins "with the basic assumption that Congress did not intend to displace state law." *Maryland v. Louisiana*, 451 U.S. 725, 746, 101 S. Ct. 2114, 68 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1981). This Court has repeatedly emphasized that there is a strong presumption against finding preemption of state law in an ambiguous case. *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 78, 896 P.2d 682 (1995). "Even if there is an express preemption clause, this court will give it a fair but narrow reading." *Northwest Wholesale, Inc. v. Pac Organic Fruit, LLC*, 184 Wn.2d 176, 184, 357 P.3d 650 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted; petition for *certiorari* pending).

The presumption disfavoring preemption of state law is particularly strong when a state legislates within its "historic powers." See Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp., 331 U.S. 218, 230, 67 S. Ct. 1146, 81 L. Ed. 2d 1447 (1947). This includes a state's taxing powers. See Union Pac. R.R. Co. v. Peniston, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) 5, 29, 21 S. Ct. 787 (1873) (the power to tax is "indispensable" to the continued existence of the states). Washington courts similarly recognize that the presumption against preemption is the strongest when the state acts within its traditional areas of sovereignty. Hue, 127 Wn.2d at 78-79; see also

Analytical Methods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 84 Wn. App. 236, 244, 928 P.2d 1123 (1996) (acknowledging strong presumption against preemption). For purposes of those statutes it does not matter whether Mr. Nickerson was selling medical marijuana or something else.

Mr. Nickerson's contention that the CSA specifically preempts DOR's assessments of retail sales taxes and retailing B&O tax on his marijuana sales fails because the CSA expresses a general Congressional intent *not to preempt* state laws. This is so except where a direct conflict arises. No direct conflict with federal law precludes the assessment of state taxes. Congress explicitly set forth in statute its clear intent *not to preempt* state laws except in a narrow category of cases in which irreconcilable conflict arises:

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